IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RINKER MATERIALS CORPORATION, a Florida corporation,

Appellant,

vs.

TOWN OF LAKE PARK, a Florida municipal corporation, et al.,

Appellees.

CASE NO. 68,582



ON DIRECT APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA,
IN AND FOR PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

D. Culver Smith III and Theresa W. Parrish of STEEL HECTOR DAVIS BURNS MIDDLETON

Northbridge Centre, Suite 1200 515 North Flagler Drive West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (305) 655-5311

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

A. The Case

The Town brought this action to obtain judicial validation of bonds that were to be issued to pay for certain planned roadway, drainage, water, and sewer improvements. A 93. Payment of the bonds was to be secured solely by the levy of special assessments to be paid by the owners of property within the designated improvement district. Rinker intervened as a party defendant to contest the validity of the proposed bond issue and the underlying assessments. A 134. No other affected property owner intervened.

The case was tried nonjury on February 14 and February 26, 1986. On March 10, 1986, the trial court entered final judgment validating the bonds. A 172. Rinker timely filed this direct appeal pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(2), Florida Constitution, Section 75.08, Florida Statutes (1985), and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(l)(B)(i). A 175.

B. The Facts

1. The Team

The Town is a small municipality located just north of West Palm Beach in Palm Beach County. The Town employs the council-manager form of government with five elected councilmen called "commissioners." The council employs a town manager. A 573.

When the first resolution in question was adopted, three of the commissioners had been in office less than one month. A 432-33, 491-92, 511-12. The other two commissioners were beginning their second term on the council. A 456-57, 548-49. None of the five had prior experience in government as an elected official. A 432-33, 456-57, 511-12, 548-49, 991-92. The Town Manager had held that position for less than four years. A 572. The job was his first as a city manager. Id.

The town attorney maintains a private practice and serves the Town part-time. A 206-07. The Town has retained outside attorneys to serve as bond counsel. A 227. The Town further retained a private engineering firm to serve as consulting engineers on the project and an investment broker to serve as bond underwriter. A 97, 294.

2. The Game Plan

In 1985 the Town decided to undertake a project for the construction of roadway, drainage, water, and sewer improvements in a light-industrial area within the Town's corporate limits sometimes referred to as "the Watertower Road area." A 210. Rather than use general funds or issue general-obligation bonds, the Town decided to issue improvement bonds payable solely from the proceeds of special assessments to be levied on certain parcels of lands in the Watertower Road area. A 3, 20.

The Town retained a consulting civil engineer and an investment banker to prepare and recommend the details for the proposed project and financing of it. The Town directed the consulting engineer to prepare a plat describing a proposed improvement district containing the lands to be specially assessed. The contemplated improvements were to be constructed on certain rights-of-way, some of which existed and some of which the Town would be required to obtain, for mostly unpaved roads designated as Watertower Road, East Street, Center Street, West Street, and South Street. However, the Town did not restrict the consulting engineer from considering propriety or desirability of including additional improvements in the project. A 355. Likewise, the Town did not impose on the engineer any guidelines for drawing the district boundaries. A 349.

The engineer was also directed to recommend the appropriate method of assessment. Three methods, with possible variations of each, were available: the "area" or "square footage" method, the "front footage" method, and the "combined front footage and area" method. The "area" method apportions the cost of the project among the affected parcels solely in proportion to the respective area or square footage of each parcel. A 305-06. The "front footage" method apportions the cost of the project among the affected parcels in direct proportion to the amount of frontage that each parcel has on

the planned roadways. A 306-07. The "combined" method apportions the cost of some of the improvements in proportion to respective area and the cost of the rest of the improvements in proportion to respective front footage. A 314.

The engineer and the underwriter proposed an project with a total cost of \$1,500,000. A 274-75. Less than \$900,000 of that amount constitutes construction costs. A 330-31. The total actual project cost (construction, engineering, and related costs) comes to \$1,030,692. A 274-75. To that figure the underwriter added capitalized interest, a relief debt-service reserve account, the underwriter's discount (profit), legal expenses, and a "case contingency figure." A 274-76. That brought the total to \$1,465,000, and for purposes of validation the underwriter rounded the amount to \$1,500,000. Id.

3. The Playing Field

The engineer prepared a plat showing a proposed improvement district. A l. Included in the proposed district are 35 parcels, each of which abuts at least one of the rights-of-way designated for improvement. One of the parcels, "Parcel K," is owned by Rinker. A l, 298. It is by area the largest parcel in the proposed district. A l. Its configuration is that of a reversed L, and it is approximately fifteen acres in size. A l, 298. It has 220 feet of frontage

on Watertower Road and 60 feet of "frontage" on what would be the stubbed-off end of East Street. A 1, 315-16. Several parcels in the proposed district have more frontage. A 1. Approximately 12 of the 35 parcels, or perhaps 20% of the total area, is developed. A 298. The Rinker parcel consists of vacant land. A 298.

In accordance with state law the Town has in place a comprehensive land-use plan, which it has titled "Future Land Use Plan." A 2; 241-42. That plan reflects corridors designated for future roadways that run north-south along the east side of the Rinker parcel and east-west along part of the south side of the Rinker parcel. A 2; 248. It further reflects a southerly extension of East Street through the Rinker parcel to connect with the contemplated east-west roadway. A 2.

If the north-south road were built, it would bring with it drainage, water, and sewer improvements. A 360. The Rinker parcel would have access to that road as well as to the drainage, water, and sewer improvements built with it. A 361. Indeed, if the north-south roadway were built along the east side of the Rinker parcel as shown in the Town's Future Land Use Plan, that road would provide the access and utilities for the Rinker parcel. A 391.

Watertower Road currently is paved for a distance of 350 feet west of Old Dixie Highway. A 1, 2, 297. That paving

extends to within 100 feet of the east edge of the Rinker parcel. A 374. The Rinker parcel will not benefit from the planned improvements to South Street. A 376. The Rinker parcel will not benefit from the planned improvements to Center The Rinker parcel will not benefit from the A 375. planned improvements to West Street unless Rinker acquires easements across private property from the westerly portion of its parcel so that it can hook into the planned sewer line on West Street. Id. Further, although East Street will be paved down to the line of the Rinker parcel, Rinker will have no access to its parcel from that location, because barriers will be erected at the end of the paving. A 370-72. The Rinker parcel could be developed to its highest use even without the planned project improvements if the north-south roadway were built along its east boundary pursuant to the Town's land-use plan. A 393.

4. The Kickoff

In determining whether to include any or all of the Rinker parcel within the boundaries of the district, the consulting engineer gave no consideration to the future benefits will flow to that parcel from the contemplated north-south road shown on the Town's land-use plan along the east side of the parcel. A 359-60. Likewise, he did not consider the future benefit to the Rinker parcel of the

contemplated southerly extension of East Street. A 359. Indeed, in deciding what the boundaries of the district should be, he gave the Town's land-use plan gave no consideration whatsoever. A 356-57.

In addition, although the Town did not restrict him from doing so, the consulting engineer gave no consideration to whether the southerly extension of East Street through the Rinker parcel as shown on the land-use plan or the contemplated roadways bounding the Rinker parcel as shown on the land-use should be included plan in the improvements project. A 351-53. Further, when he determined to include all of the Rinker parcel in the district, he did not consider what internal development of the parcel would be necessary to use the planned improvements. A 346. The engineer acknowledged that there is no law that required him to include all of the parcel in the district solely because it was owned by one owner. A 348.

The consulting engineer recommended to the Town that it use the "area" method of assessment. Under the "front footage" method the assessment that would be levied on the Rinker fifteen-acre parcel is \$42,954.80. A 79, at 81. Under the "combined front footage and area" method, the assessment would be \$92,602.12. A 6, at 8; A 79, at 81. Under the "area" method the assessment soars to \$402,736.25. A 57, at 62; A 79, at 81. The next highest assessment under the "area" method is

\$167,586.94, and 31 of the 35 parcels are assessed under the "area" method at less than \$100,000.00. A 79, at 81.

"area" method disregards the the amount of parcel's front footage. Α 334. Ιt disregards the configuration of the parcel and the proximity of various points within the parcel to the planned improvements for which the assessments are to be levied. Id. When the consulting engineer decided to recommend the "area" method, he did not consider the amount of internal development of the parcel that would be necessary to use the planned improvements. A 346. merely assumed that every square foot of the Rinker parcel would be benefitted by the improvements. A 341-42. Likewise, in deciding what assessment method to recommend, he did not take into consideration the Town's land-use plan or any future benefits to the Rinker parcel from the construction of the additional roadways contemplated by that plan. A 357, 359, 360.

5. The Opening Drive

On October 6, 1985, the Town adopted Resolution No. 31, 1985, which purported to initiate the project and the special-assessment program. A 3. Resolution 31 designated the consulting engineer, created Special Assessment Improvement District No. 1, and adopted the engineer's assessment plat as the plat for the district. Id. It directed the engineer to prepare and file with the town clerk an assessment roll on a

"combined front foot and square foot basis." Id., at 4, § VII (emphasis added). Pursuant to Resolution 31 the consulting engineer prepared and filed with the town clerk an assessment roll using the "combined front footage and area method." A 6. The assessment to be levied on Rinker's parcel was \$92,601.12. A 6, at 8.

On October 16, 1985, the Town adopted Resolution No. 35, 1985, which recited the acceptance of the assessment roll on file. A 15. Resolution 35 gave notice of the town council's authorization of the project, creation of the district, adoption of the combined method of assessments, and intent to meet as an equalization board on November 5, 1985, to consider the propriety of the project, its costs, its manner of payment, and the amount to be assessed against each affected parcel. Id.

On October 30, 1985, the Town adopted Resolution No. 36, 1985 ("the financing resolution"). A 20. Resolution 36 described the financing plan for the improvements authorized by Resolutions 31 and 35 and authorized the issuance of special assessment improvement bonds to pay for the \$1,500,000 cost of the project. The bonds were to be secured only by the annual collection of the special assessments levied against the affected parcels.

6. The Lateral

Unbeknownst to Rinker (and presumably to the other affected owners as well), the Town Council's purported adoption of the "combined" method of assessment was, in fact, no such decision at all. Rather, the "combined" method had been incorporated in Resolution 31 not as the result of any affirmative decision by the town council but instead merely to leave the council with "sufficient flexibility to make changes and adjustments," "so the Commission would have different methods, different bases, upon which they could make their decision." A 253-54. As stated by the town attorney:

The concept was, when the Commission voted and eventually equalized these things they would have before them the various methods of equalization we believe they could use under the statutes. However, one had to be selected in order to get the procedure to move.

A 254. Indeed, in the view of some of the councilmen, it was not a decision but rather action taken merely to "get the project moving," to get the thing rolling." See, e.g., A 552-53.

Rinker, believing that the town council, as required by statute, had made an affirmative decision to use the "combined" method, a method that would result in an assessment on Rinker's parcel of \$92,602.12, did not attend the equalization board meeting held on November 5, 1985. A 215. At that meeting the Town dropped the "combined" method of

assessment and settled on the "area" method. A 214-16. The resulting assessment on the Rinker parcel jumped to \$402,736.25. A 57, at 62. When Rinker learned of this switch, it complained to the Town about the procedure involved. A 41.

7. The End Run

Presumably as a result of Rinker's complaint, the Town's advisors decided to attempt to correct any possible deficiency. On December 4, 1985, the Town adopted Resolution No. 40, 1985 ("the implementing resolution"). A 48, 52, 219. This resolution repealed Resolutions 31 and 35 and purported to reinitiate the whole project. A 52. It purported to accept assessment roll "presently on file," designated the affected lands, and adopted the "area" method of assessment. Id. When Resolution 40 was adopted, the only assessment roll officially on file was the "combined front foot and square foot" assessment roll that had been prepared and filed pursuant to Resolution 31. A 238, 383-85. Resolution 40 contained notice of another equalization board meeting to be held January 8, 1986. Id.

A Rinker representative and consulting civil engineer appeared at the January 8 meeting and asserted the excessiveness of the \$402,736.25 assessment. A 57. They also argued that the Town had failed to comply with its own comprehensive land-use plan. The Town's consulting engineer

recommended to the town council that if the roadways shown on the land-use plan were expected to become realities and cause a reduction in the land area of Rinker's parcel, a corresponding adjustment should be made in Rinker's assessment as though that area were excluded. A 321-24. The town council voted to reduce the assessable area of the Rinker parcel by the square footage that the Town would take to build those roadways. A 57, 324. No other adjustment was made for the Rinker parcel, and no change was made in the method of assessment. Rinker's assessment was thereby reduced to \$353,119.07. A 57, at 62.

8. The Final Gun

The Town purported to give final approval to the special assessments by adoption of Resolution No. 4, 1986 on January 22, 1986. A 75, 79, 223-27. In the meantime, the Town had sought validation of the bonds described in Resolution 36 by filing a complaint for validation on December 13, 1985.

The financing resolution, (Resolution 36), which preceded by more than a month this new resolution re-enacting the assessment program, remained unchanged. No new financing resolution has been adopted.

At no time did the commissioners give any thought to whether the district boundaries as drawn by the town engineer were appropriate or whether any lands included in the district

as proposed by the engineer should be excluded. A 442-43, 484, 498, 518. Further, in considering what method of proration to adopt, the commissioners did not consider the relative cost to individual parcel owners, including Rinker, even to make use of the planned project improvements. A 443-45, 474-75, 499, 562.

Mayor Guard did not even engage in any independent thought-process concerning which of the methods of proration was appropriate. A 496-97. Commissioner Cottrell was not even aware that the town council had changed from one method to another method upon the repeal of Resolutions 31 and 35 and the 468-69, 472-73. adoption of Resolution 40. Α Indeed, Commissioner Cottrell described the area method as "a combined of several things." A 471. Commissioner Nevland believed that the area method is what the commission initially adopted. A 552.

Furthermore, the commissioners did not even consider what impact the land-use plan would have on the relative benefit that the planned project improvements provided the Rinker parcel. Mayor Guard: "I don't think I even gave it any thought." A 499. See also A 445-46, 475.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Town has failed to comply with the required The procedural steps both for authorizing the issuance of the bonds and for levying the underlying special assessments. Contrary to the requirements of Section 170.11, Florida Statutes, the Town adopted the financing resolution before it equalized. confirmed the levying of the approved. and In addition, the financing resolution (Resolution assessments. 36) was founded on a project and on assessments that were implemented by resolutions that were later repealed.

Furthermore, the Town combined into single implementing resolution (Resolution 40) what Chapter requires be done by two separate resolutions. That resolution further defective because it purported to approve assessment roll then on file with the town clerk that was based on an assessment method different than the method described in the resolution itself. Indeed, that assessment roll had been prepared and filed pursuant to an earlier resolution that was repealed.

In addition, the assessment on Rinker's parcel is invalid because it is inconsistent with the Town's comprehensive land-use plan. The improvements for which the assessments are being levied constitute a development under the Local Government Comprehensive Planning Act of 1975. Any

development must be consistent with the cognizant governing authority's comprehensive land-use plan. The Town has premised its assessment of Rinker's parcel on assumptions that directly contradict what the Town's own land-use plan contemplates.

Finally, the assessments are the product of arbitrary governmental decision or nondecision. The Town's elected governing officials and unelected administrators and advisors failed even to consider a host of relevant factors, including but not limited to the development and benefits contemplated by the Town's comprehensive land-use plan. Indeed, the elected officials themselves brought to bear no substantial independent reasoning or judgmental processes on the policy decisions in question, instead abdicating them altogether to others in an impermissible exercise of nongovernment.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TOWN FAILED TO COMPLY WITH THE PROCEDURES REQUIRED BY LAW FOR LEVYING SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS AND FOR ISSUING BONDS

A. The Scope of Review

In an action to validate bonds founded on special assessments, the trial court must consider "any matter or thing affecting the power or authority of a municipality to issue bonds or the regularity or legality of their issue." City of Ft. Myers v. State, 97 Fla. 704, 117 So. 97, 101 (1928). This broad scope of inquiry is required because:

If the judgment validates such bonds, certificates or other obligations, which may include the validation of ... any taxes, assessments or revenues affected, and no appeal is taken within the time prescribed, or if taken and the judgment affirmed, such judgment is <u>forever conclusive</u> <u>as to all</u> <u>matters</u> adjudicated against ... all parties affected thereby ..., and the validity of certificates bonds, or obligations or of any taxes, assessments or revenues pledged for the payment thereof, or of the proceedings authorizing the issuance thereof, including any remedies provided for their collection, shall never be called in question in any court by any person or party.

§ 75.09, Fla. Stat. (1985) (emphasis added). This court's charge on review of a bond-validation proceeding is "to determine if a public body has the authority to issue such bonds under the Florida constitution and statutes, to decide

whether the purpose of the obligation is legal, and to ensure that the authorization of the obligations <u>complies</u> <u>with the requirements</u> of <u>law.</u>" <u>Wohl v. State</u>, 480 So.2d 639, 640-41 (Fla. 1985) (emphasis added).

B. The Statutory Procedures Must Be Strictly Followed

1. General Principles

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