IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 68,582

RINKER MATERIALS CORPORATION,
a Florida corporation,

Appellant,

v.

TOWN OF LAKE PARK, a Florida
municipal corporation, et al.,

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The scope of review of this Court is narrow and the Final Judgment of the trial court validating the bonds comes to this Court with a presumption of correctness.

The statutory requirements of Chapter 170, Fla.Stat. (1985) have been substantially followed. There has been no denial of any of Rinker's due process rights. Indeed, Rinker participated extensively in the assessment process and received from the Town all that it asked for. Rinker's complaints about hypertechnicalities lack any showing of prejudice or denial of

due process. Furthermore, Rinker has waived its challenges to the procedures used to enact the Implementing Resolution and the Financing Resolution.

The assessments made by the Town are consistent with its Comprehensive Plan. First, Rinker may not raise an inconsistency challenge in a bond validation proceeding; the LGCPA provides that such challenges can be raised only in actions brought pursuant to Section 163.3215. Secondly, Rinker has waived its right to raise the inconsistency issue by failing to plead this issue in either its answer or counterclaim. Thirdly, there is no proof in the record that the assessments are inconsistent with the Town's Comprehensive Use Plan.

The Rinker parcel was not assessed arbitrarily. First, Rinker failed to carry its burden below of overturning the presumption of correctness of the special assessments by strong, direct, clear and positive proof. Secondly, the motives of the Town Commissioners in adopting the Implementing Resolution are not the proper subject of judicial inquiry. As a matter of fact, nonetheless, the Commissioners exercised sound judgment, considering each resolution, as well as Rinker's presentation and complaints, in an open-minded and impartial way.

The Final Judgment entered by the trial court should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TOWN HAS SUBSTANTIALLY COMPLIED WITH THE PROCEDURES REQUIRED BY LAW FOR LEVYING SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS AND FOR ISSUING BONDS.

A. The Scope of Review.

With more than a little razzle-dazzle (the current term in vogue is "misdirection"), Rinker in its Initial Brief with sleight of hand has attempted to meld the scope of review to be applied by the trial court in a bond validation proceeding with the scope of review to be applied by this Court in reviewing the trial court's findings and conclusions.

This Court has clearly enunciated its scope of review in Wohl v. State, 480 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1985):

The scope of review by this Court in bond validation cases is limited. The purpose of bond validation proceedings and the scope of judicial inquiry held pursuant to chapter 75, Florida Statutes (1983), is to determine if a public body has the authority to issue such bonds under the Florida constitution and statutes, to decide whether the purpose of the obligation is legal, and to ensure that the authorization of the obligations complies with the requirements of law. McCoy Restaurants, Inc. v. City of Orlando, 392 So.2d 252 (Fla. 1980); State v. City of Miami, 379 So.2d 651 (Fla. 1980); State v. Sarasota County, 372 So.2d 1115 (Fla. 1979); State v. City of Sunrise, 354 So.2d 1206 (Fla. 1978). The final judgment validating the Commission's revenue bonds comes to the Court with a presumption of correctness, and appellants must demonstrate from the record the failure of the evidence to support the Commission's and the trial court's conclusions. International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers v. Jacksonville Port Authority, 424 So.2d 753 (Fla. 1982).

Id. at 640-41.

Stated somewhat differently:

In a bond validation proceeding, the function of this Court is to determine that the authorizing body had the power to act and that it exercised that power in accordance with the purpose and intent of the law. State v. Sarasota County, 372 So.2d 115 (Fla. 1979); State v. City of Sunrise, 354 So.2d 1206 (Fla. 1978).

State v. Sunrise Lakes Phase II Special Recreation District, 383 So.2d 631, 633-34 (Fla. 1980).

In this appeal Rinker does not challenge the authority of the Town to issue the bonds in question, nor does it challenge the legality of the purpose for which the bonds are to be issued. Rinker only challenges whether the authorization of the bonds complies with the requirements of law or, phrased somewhat differently, whether the Town has exercised its powers in accordance with the purpose and intent of the law.

B. The Statutory Procedures Must Be Substantially Followed.

As Rinker has pointed out in its Initial Brief, municipalities are not required to comply strictly with each and every requirement of Chapter 170, Fla.Stat. (1985), which governs special assessments and bonds associated with them:

In order that such assessments be valid and enforceable, they must be made pursuant to legislative authority and the method prescribed by the Legislature must be substantially followed.

City of Coral Gables v. Coral Gables, Inc., 119 Fla. 30, 160 So. 476, 478 (1935). Each and every statutory requirement need not be strictly followed. For example, in City of Hollywood v.

Davis, 19 So.2d 111 (Fla. 1944) the court upheld the special assessments levied by the municipality even though (1) the resolution of the municipality providing for the street improvement recited an incorrect statutory authority for the enactment; (2) the enacted resolution did not contain a representation that the contemplated improvements of the streets was to be performed by a contractor let by the city or labor under the direct control and management of the city; (3) the resolution failed to indicate the location of the improvements by terminal points and routes as required by Florida law; (4) the resolution failed to designate a convenient and understandable method of improving the property; (5) the city failed to keep a book or record of the improvements or a record of the liens as asserted, even though these were required by Florida law; and finally, (6) the city failed or omitted to keep an improvement assessment roll, as required by Florida law.

The line between procedures that substantially follow the validation method prescribed by the legislature and those that do not is well-defined:

Irregularities, as such, in administering specific procedures involving special assessments do not render such procedures void if constitutional guarantees are not denied. Abrams v. City of Hollywood, Fla.App. 1958, 105 So.2d 602. We recognize that a person to be specially assessed is to have an opportunity to be heard at some point during the assessment procedure. City of Hollywood v. Davis, 1944, 154 Fla. 785, 19 So.2d 111.

Moody v. City of Vero Beach, 203 So.2d 345, 346 (Fla. 4th DCA 1967).

In this case, no constitutional guarantees have been denied. If there is anything that Rinker has not attacked in its shotgun challenge to this validation proceeding, it is the simple and uncontroverted fact that Rinker had a full and complete opportunity to be heard during the assessment procedure and even the opportunity to cross-examine the Town's engineer. Although Rinker had filed a lawsuit in an attempt to enjoin the January 8, 1986, meeting of the Equalization Board, when its attempt to enjoin that meeting failed, Rinker's representative appeared at and extensively participated in the meeting of the Equalization Board. Rinker presented documentary evidence, exhibits "A" through "M", and presented the testimony of a retained engineer. A. 57-62. As a result of that presentation, Rinker succeeded in convincing the Town to reduce its assessment by \$49,617.18. Rinker argued and the Town concluded that because the Town's Future Land Use Plan (A. 2) contemplated certain roadways to be constructed on Rinker's parcel, the area to be occupied by those future roadways should be deducted from Rinker's parcel, thereby reducing its assessment accordingly.

Having had the opportunity to participate and to present all that it chose to present at the meeting, Rinker cannot complain that it was deprived of any constitutional

protection. Rather, Rinker is left with the argument that both the Implementing Resolution and the Financing Resolution contain procedural flaws that "independently preclude validation". If the statutory procedures were substantially followed, that is, if there were no constitutional guarantees denied, then there can be no procedural flaws which could preclude validation. That is so because of the ancient legal maxim "no harm, no foul".

1. The Implementing Resolution.

Rinker argues that the Implementing Resolution "is so procedurally flawed as independently to preclude validation".

First, Rinker argues that when the Town in the Implementing Resolution, satisfied the requirements of Section 170.03 and at the same time fixed the time and place for the meeting of the Equalization Board, as required by Section 170.07, it somehow committed a statutory mortal sin resulting in the invalidation of the Implementing Resolution. Rinker's argument appears to be that because the statute calls for a two-step process, only a two-step process will protect the public. Specifically, Rinker argues that the two-step process "promotes the integrity of the municipality's legislative process and protects the citizenry's due process rights, much as do multiple readings of ordinances". Rinker's Initial Brief, p. 23. The purpose of promoting "the integrity of the municipality's legislative process" sounds more like lawyer gobbledeygook than a genuine

reason for invalidating the Implementing Resolution. On the other hand, protecting "the citizenry's due-process rights" is a genuine justification for invalidating the Resolution, if in fact the Town denied Rinker its due-process rights.

What due process rights of Rinker's were denied? On October 6, 1985, the Town adopted Resolution No. 31,1985 which initiated the project and the special assessment program. A. 3. Rinker received notice of the intended enactment of this Resolution and had the opportunity to appear and challenge it. On October 16, 1985, the Town adopted Resolution No. 35,1985, which recited the acceptance of the assessment roll on file. Rinker received notice of the intended enactment of this Resolution and had the opportunity to appear and to challenge it. This Resolution set November 5, 1985, as the date for the Equalization Board to meet to consider the assessments proposed. Although Rinker had notice of the November 5, 1985, meeting, it chose not to attend, although it did complain to the Town about the procedure used by the Town.

Therefore, at Rinker's request the Town adopted the Implementing Resolution which repealed Resolutions 31,1985 and 35,1985 reinitiating the whole project and setting a meeting of the Equalization Board for January 8, 1986. Rinker attended that meeting, presented all the oral and documentary testimony it desired, and cross-examined the Town's engineer. Rinker had a full and complete opportunity to present its case and to be

heard. (In addition to the administrative forum, Rinker has also been heard in the judicial forum by bringing one action in an unsuccessful attempt to prevent the January 8, 1986, meeting of the Equalization Board and by intervening in another, the one leading to this appeal.)

Secondly, and in an even more picayune manner, Rinker argues that the Implementing Resolution is procedurally flawed in a mortal manner because the only assessment roll officially on file with the Town Clerk when the Implementing Resolution was adopted was the assessment roll prepared on a "combined front foot and square foot method, pursuant to resolution 31".

This is wrong, as a matter of fact. When the Town decided at the December 4, 1985 hearing to adopt the area method of assessment, it directed the Town Clerk to maintain the assessment roll and assessment plat on file, open to inspection to the public. A. 53. Carolyn Neff, the Town Clerk, testified that she maintained on file at the Town Clerk's office the assessment roll, plans and specifications for the project, and the assessment plat. A. 271. Additionally, Jeff Renault, the Town's engineer, testified that he prepared the assessment roll and assessment plat and "hand carried" them to the Town Clerk. A. 388-89.

Indeed, when Rinker made its presentation at the public hearing conducted on January 8, 1986, both the attorney for Rinker and the engineer who testified on behalf of Rinker had

before them the assessment roll calculated on the basis of the area method. For example, the minutes of the meeting show:

Mr. Payne [Rinker's attorney] introduced Mr. Stephen Oenbrink [Rinker's expert engineer], Vice President, Hutcheon Engineers, who discussed the reasons the Town's proposed assessment roll was not equitable to Rinker and to recommend how the assessment roll can be brought more closely into line with an assessment roll acceptable to Rinker Materials Corporation. A. 59. [Emphasis added.]

Pursuant to Rinker's request at that hearing, the proposed assessment roll was discussed at length and ultimately modified in Rinker's favor in the approximate amount of \$50,000. A. 62. The area method of assessments was even part of the minutes of the January 8, 1986, meeting. A. 62.

Therefore, this contention is simply based upon an inaccuracy of fact. Rinker cannot bear its burden of overturning the finding of fact made by the trial court in this instance. (Even if the assessment roll was not on file, and the evidence is that it was, by appearing with the roll in hand, arguing from it and not objecting to the fact it was not filed, Rinker has clearly waived this hypertechnical complaint. City of Ft. Lauderdale v. Gulf & Eastern Dev. Corp., 332 So.2d 88 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976)).

2. The Financing Resolution

Next Rinker argues that the Financing Resolution is invalid for two reasons. First, Rinker asserts that the Resolution is invalid because it was adopted before the equalization, approval and confirmation of the levying of the special

assessments by Resolution 4,1986. Secondly, Rinker argues that the Resolution is invalid because it predates the Implementing Resolution.

Both of Rinker's contentions here are simply nothing more than the bald assertion that because the Town did not follow strictly the chronology of Chapter 170, the Financing Resolution should be stricken for that reason and that reason alone. Rinker has not suggested a single reason why the Financing Resolution should be invalidated for failing to follow strictly the chronology of Chapter 170, other than to argue that the Resolution has "lost its conceptual framework", whatever that means.

Rinker has cited not case law in support of this argument. Apparently, the closest case on point is Abrams v. City of Hollywood, 105 So.2d 602 (Fla. 2d DCA 1958). In that case plaintiffs challenged an assessment of special taxes for sewer connection improvements, arguing that the procedure followed by Hollywood did not comply with the sequence of events mandated by the city charter. Simply put, the charter required that there be a resolution ordering that the improvements be made; that after passage of the resolution, plans and specifications should be made and approved and filed by the commission and with the city clerk; that as soon as the plans and specifications were filed, the clerk would publish a notice of a meeting to hear objections; that the objections would be

heard and then the resolution would be confirmed or denied. What actually happened was that the work on the improvements began even before the resolution ordering the improvements was adopted and the work was completed even before the meeting to hear objections and even before the resolution approving the assessment roll was adopted.

Even so, the appellate court ruled that:

the irregularities in carrying out specific acts does not render such acts invalid or void so long as constitutional guarantees are not denied. In this case all the requirements of the statute were carried out, though not in the order designated. The appellants had ample opportunity for timely objection with reference to the assessment involved but failed to make such objection and, having so failed, are estopped by their own delinquency.

Id. at 604. In the case at hand, the Town has substantially complied with all the requirements of chapter 170. Rinker has been given each and every one of its due process rights.

3. Rinker Has Waived Its Challenges to the Procedures Used to Enact the Implementing Resolution and the Financing Resolution.

The Implementing Resolution and the Financing Resolution were enacted well before the Equalization Board meeting of January 8, 1986, at which Rinker appeared and fully presented its case. At no time during the course of that meeting did Rinker object in any way to those procedural errors which it now argues on appeal. Not having raised those objections and not giving the Town the opportunity to cure those alleged

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